A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The selection of jurors 27 and 38 to decide appellant's 

case violated his right to trial by an impartial jury under the Sixth and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article 

1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. 

2. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to jury 

unanimity on Burglary in the First Degree. 

3. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to jury 

unanimity on Felony Murder in the First Degree. 

4. The State's evidence is insufficient to prove 

Aggravated Murder in the First Degree. 

5. The State's evidence is insufficient to prove Felony 

Murder in the First Degree. 

6. Conditional vacation of appellant's Felony Murder 

conviction violates double jeopardy. 

7. The sentencing court erroneously concluded that 

appellant is a persistent offender. 

8. In finding appellant's 1976 conviction comparable to a 

current "most serious offense" under Washington law, the court 

engaged in improper fact finding and violated appellant's Sixth 

Amendment right to trial by jury. 
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9. In its findings and conclusions regarding appellant's 

status as a persistent offender, the sentencing court erred when it 

entered finding of fact 1 (Irby's date of birth) and conclusions of law 

1 1,2,4, and 7-9. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Despite appellant's insistence on a fair and impartial 

jury, and the trial court's promise to honor this constitutional right, 

two seated jurors were biased against appellant. One conceded she 

favored the prosecution and hoped to find appellant guilty. The 

second admitted difficulty putting aside her "pro police officer" views 

and her negative view of the appellant's decision to waive his right to 

counsel for trial. Did inclusion of these individuals on appellant's jury 

deny him his constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury? 

2. Appellant was charged with one count of Burglary in 

the First Degree for his actions in either of two separate buildings. 

Jurors were not instructed that they must unanimously agree as to 

the building in which the burglary occurred, and the prosecutor told 

jurors they could base their verdict on either building. Was appellant 

denied his right to a unanimous jury verdict? 

The court's findings and conclusions are attached to this 
brief as an appendix. 
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3. Appellant also was charged with one count of Felony 

Murder in the First Degree based on the predicate felony of Burglary 

in the First Degree. Did the lack of juror unanimity on Burglary in the 

First Degree also taint the jury's verdict for this crime? 

4. To establish Aggravated Murder in the First Degree, 

the State had to prove that the murder was committed "in the course 

of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from" a burglary or that it 

was committed "to conceal the commission of a crime or to protect or 

conceal the identity of any person committing a crime." Where the 

evidence establishes a killing and, at most, a separate and 

subsequent burglary, did the State fail to meet its proof 

requirements? 

5. Felony Murder similarly required proof that the victim 

was killed "in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight 

from" a burglary. For the same reason, did the State fail to prove 

this crime beyond a reasonable doubt? 

6. Recognizing that convictions for both Aggravated 

Murder in the First Degree and Felony Murder would violate double 

jeopardy, the sentencing court vacated the Felony Murder 

conviction. Unfortunately, the court repeatedly referred to the 

Felony Murder conviction in the judgment and expressly indicated 
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the conviction remained available for reinstatement should the 

other murder conviction be overturned . Is this conditional dismissal 

a violation of double jeopardy? 

7. At sentencing, the court treated a 1976 conviction as a 

strike under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act ("POM"). 

That conviction, however, is not legally comparable to any POM 

offense. Nor is it factually comparable. In finding otherwise, 

however, the court engaged in its own fact-finding regarding the 

events in 1976. Does this violate Washington law and appellant's 

Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury? 

8. Despite the State's failure to prove that the 1976 

conviction should be counted as a strike, the court entered findings 

and conclusions treating it as a strike offense. Where the record 

does not support several of these findings and conclusions, are they 

erroneous? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Convictions, Reversal, and Remand 

In 2005, the Skagit County Prosecutor's Office charged 

Terrance Irby with multiple criminal offenses. CP 1-4. He was 

convicted of Aggravated Murder in the First Degree, Felony Murder 

in the First Degree, and Burglary in the First Degree in connection 
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with the death of James Rock. CP 14-15. These convictions were 

reversed, however, based on a violation of Irby's constitutional right 

to be present for all critical stages of trial. CP 11-14. 

On remand for a new trial, Irby chose to waive his right to 

appointed counsel and represent himself. CP 66; 3Rp2 33. Irby 

became convinced he could not receive a fair trial in Skagit County 

based on the conduct of trial judge Michael Rickert, prosecutors, and 

others involved in the case. He ultimately decided not to attend trial 

in protest of a process he deemed corrupt. 16RP 14-18. 

2 This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as 
follows: 1 RP - August 8, 2011; 2RP - August 25, 2011; 3RP -
August 31, 2011; 4RP - September 7, 15, and 21, 2011, 
November 1 and 23, 2011, February 23,2012, and June 15,2012; 
5RP - August 25 and October 12, 2011, and January 5, 2012; 6RP 
- December 14, 2011, January 12, March 14, April 5, 25, and 26, 
May 24, June 7, July 6 and 20, August 23, September 13 and 18, 
and November 1, 2012; 7RP - February 8, 2012; 8RP - April 12, 
2012; 9RP - April 20, 2012; 10RP - October 2 and 24, 2012, 
January 18, 2013, and February 28, 2013; 11 RP - November 27, 
2012; 12RP - December 21,2012; 13RP - January 3,10, and 24, 
February 6, March 8 (a.m. session) and March 28, 2013; 14RP -
March 4 and 5, 2013; 15RP - March 6, 2013 (intro. remarks at jury 
selection); 16RP - March 6, 2013; 17RP - March 7, 2013; 18RP
March 8 (p.m. session) and March 11, 2013; 19RP - March 12 and 
21, and April 18, 2013; 20RP - additional proceedings on March 12 
and 21, 2013. 
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2. Jury Voir Dire 

Despite his decision not to attend trial, Irby had made 

repeated efforts to ensure the jury that heard his case was fair and 

impartial, filing motions seeking a racially balanced jury and 

seeking sequestration to shield jurors from media coverage. CP 

61; 4RP 165; 5RP 63-65; 14RP 60. Judge Rickert assured Irby the 

selected jury would be unbiased, impartial, and consistent with 

constitutional guarantees. 7RP 50-51. Since Irby was not present 

for jury selection, however, Judge Rickert and the two prosecutors 

representing the State were the only guardians of these 

constitutional rights. 16RP 24 (noting Irby not present) . 

Juror numbers 38 and 27 are pertinent to this appeal. 

a. .Juror 38 

During the court's general questioning of prospective jurors, 

Judge Rickert asked , "Anybody here work in what I call the 

administration of justice; that means either now or in the past as a 

police officer, trooper, lawyer, judge, department of corrections, 

military policemen, paralegal, anything like that?" 16RP 39-40. 

Among those who responded affirmatively was juror 38, who 

indicated she had previously worked for Child Protective Services. 

16RP 40 . When Judge Rickert asked if anyone in this group 
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thought the experience would impact hearing the case, no one 

responded. 16RP41. 

Shortly thereafter, however, Judge Rickert specifically 

focused on the ability to be fair: 

we all have things in our lives that have happened to 
us and our families. We all have our own perceptions 
of how things should or ought to be. We 
acknowledge that all humans are different. The point 
is could we put aside our personal experiences and 
sit in judgment as a juror and give both Mr. Irby and 
the State of Washington a fair trial on a level playing 
field. That's our purpose of these questions. 

Now, that being [the] case does anybody have 
anything in their past or anything on their mind that 
you think wow this just might not be the case for me. 
I'm not sure I can do this based on the 
circumstances. 

16RP 42. 

Juror 38 raised her hand, which led to the following 

exchange: 

Juror No. 38: 

Court: 

I'm a little concerned because I 
did work for the government, 
Child Protective Services, I'm 
more inclined towards the 
prosecution I guess. 

Would that impact your ability to 
be a fair and impartial juror? Do 
you think you could listen to both 
sides, listen to the whole story so 
to speak? 
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Juror No. 38: I would like to say he's guilty. 

16RP 43. Judge Rickert did not follow up further and moved on to 

other jurors who expressed concerns. 16RP 43-44. 

Notably, prosecutors never questioned juror 38 about her 

pro-prosecution bias or her expressed desire to find Irby guilty. 

See 16RP 49-94. Prosecutors only had two direct interactions with 

juror 38. First, when they asked if anyone had a particularly good 

or bad experience with police, juror 38 shared that she recently had 

a particularly good experience involving the death of her mother, 

where officers "were very compassionate, and very understanding, 

and helpful." 16RP 69-70. Second, when prosecutors asked how 

jurors would assess any competing experts, juror 38 responded 

that she would determine which expert offered the most relevant 

information. 16RP 79-80. 

Prosecutors exercised five peremptory challenges to get to 

juror 38, who became the last individual selected for Irby's case. 

16RP 95-96; CP 382. She was not one of the alternate jurors; she 

actually deliberated and decided Irby's fate. CP 363, 382, 386. 
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b. .Juror 27 

Juror 27 indicated that she knew two potential prosecution 

witnesses - Skagit County Sheriff's Deputies Craig Mullen and Bill 

Wise. 16RP 37-38. Prosecutors' question about a particularly 

good or bad experience with police then led to the following 

exchange: 

Juror No. 27: 

Prosecutor: 

Juror No. 27: 

Prosecutor: 

don't know whether it's 
necessarily good or bad. My dad 
retired as a Skagit County Sheriff 
about six years or so. So I kind 
of grew up, I knew a lot of older 
guys now. So I'm just more 
comfortable more inclined 
toward, you know, what they say 
just because I'm more 
comfortable with police officers. 

Do you think you would be more 
inclined to believe a law 
enforcement officer if they are a 
witness in a particular case? 

I think I'm more inclined because 
I'm comfortable. And I also work 
in a hospital and, you know, we 
have a lot of guys bringing people 
in through ER whether it's 
firemen or policemen. I'm just 
more comfortable with them, I 
guess. I have to believe what 
they say when they bring people 
in . So I'm just more inclined in 
that direction, I guess. 

You've never - from what I recall 
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Juror No. 27: 

Prosecutor: 

Juror No. 27: 

Prosecutor: 

Juror No. 27: 

you've never dealt with any law 
enforcement officers in this 
particular case? 

I know a couple of them not 
super well, but I do know them. 

Do you believe - I guess the 
question was asked of [another 
juror] before involving Mr. Irby, 
you know yourself, do you think 
you can put any personal 
connection you have with law 
enforcement aside and decide 
this case based upon the 
evidence that's going to come in 
this courtroom and decide the 
case based on that? 

I think it will be hard for me just 
because he isn't represented at 
al1. 3 So I'm kind of pro police 
officer. 

In your mind it's a combination of 
those two that causes you a little 
concern? 

Yes, it causes me concern. I will 
try, but it does cause some 
concern. 

16RP 68-69. Juror 27 also was selected for Irby's case, was not an 

alternate, and decided Irby's fate. 16RP 96; CP 363, 382, 386. 

3 Jurors were told Irby was not present by choice and not 
represented by counsel. 15RP 5; 16RP 49-52,83. 
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3. Evidence at Trial 

On the morning of March 11, 2005, Skagit County Sheriff's 

Deputy Craig Mullen was dispatched to conduct a welfare check at 

35896 Shangri-la Lane in Hamilton, the home of James Rock. 16RP 

127 -129; exhibit 169. Rock, who was in declining health, no longer 

liked to drive and regularly obtained rides from Community Action, a 

local social services agency. 17RP 47, 52; 18RP 142-144. Rock 

had called on March 7th to schedule a March 11th ride. 18RP 145-

146. Community Action requested the welfare check when their 

driver was unable to make contact with Rock at his home. 16RP 

129-130. 

Deputy Mullen knocked on doors, looked in windows, and 

walked around the property, but did not see anyone. 16RP 132. In 

addition to the residence, there is a separate shop - detached and 

separated from the residence by a breezeway - which has a larger 

sliding door and smaller man door. 16RP 134; 17RP 37,73; exhibits 

12, 70. Mullen noticed the man door was slightly ajar and entered . 

16RP 136; exhibit 6. It was dark. Mullen called Rock's name but got 

no answer. He flipped on a light switch, but it did not work. He then 

turned on his flashlight and discovered Rock's body on the shop 

floor. 16RP 135-136. 
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Rock's body was resting on an aluminum lounge chair frame 

and partially obscured by an old inflatable mattress. 16RP 137, 145-

146; exhibits 1-3, 14. There was significant blood on and around the 

body, including a pool of blood by Rock's head and some spatter 

and drips near the body and on the floor and wall near the man door. 

16RP 137-139, 146; 17RP 112-120; exhibits 2,4,33,70. There 

was no evidence of forced entry into the shop. 17RP 72. No 

obvious weapons were found. 17RP 95. 

The front door to the residence was found unlocked. 16RP 

149.. Unlike the shop, the residence appeared largely undisturbed. 

Electronics, camping gear, a coin collection, and other items of value 

were still in the home. 16RP 149-150; 17RP 51-52, 147. The only 

items unaccounted for were three firearms Rock had owned in the 

past. 17RP 40-43, 51. Rock usually kept them in the master 

bedroom closet and locked the bedroom with a padlock. 17RP 38-

39, 43. Based on debris found on the floor around the master 

bedroom door, and the absence of a doorknob, it appeared 

someone may have used force to open the door and gain access to 

that area of the home. 17RP 154, 157-159; 18RP 181-182; exhibits 

91-93. 
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An autopsy revealed that Rock died from sharp and blunt 

trauma to the head and neck. 18RP 35. He had suffered a stabbing 

injury to the back of the neck, cuts to the front of the neck and scalp, 

and fractures to the back of the skull from multiple impacts with a 

hard object. 18RP 23-34. A search of Rock's home computer 

revealed the last confirmed use was Monday, March 7, 2005 at 8:44 

p.m. 13RP 122. The last call made from Rock's cell phone occurred 

at 12:18 p.m. on March 8,2005. 18RP 121. A newspaper dated 

Wednesday, March 9, 2005 had not been disturbed since its delivery 

to Rock's home. 13RP 189. Based on autopsy results, a time of 

death sometime on March 8 was within the range of possibilities. 

18RP 36. 

Skagit County Sheriff's Deputies determined the names of 

friends and associates of Rock, and identified Terrance Irby as a 

person of interest. 17RP 65, 139. Irby and Rock had known each 

other for a long time, and the two friends recently had been spending 

time together at Rock's home and elsewhere. 17RP 48-49; 18RP 

158-160,162-163,170. 

About a week and a half earlier, on March 2, 2005, a Chelan 

County Sheriff's Deputy had arrested Irby on an outstanding warrant 

and placed his Ford pickup truck in a Leavenworth impound lot. 
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18RP 39, 42-44, 48-49. On March 6, it was discovered the truck had 

been stolen from the lot. 18RP 44. Someone had removed a gate 

from its hinges, and Irby's truck was the only vehicle taken. 18RP 

44-45. 

Irby and his truck were seen thereafter in the Hamilton area. 

Interviews with those who lived in the area revealed that, on the 

afternoon of March 8, Jerry Revell and his wife, with the assistance 

of their son and a family friend, had moved to a home on Shangri-la 

Lane near Rock's home. 18RP 132-141,164-167,173. Revell knew 

Rock and was familiar with Irby's pickup truck, which he had seen 

parked at Rock's home on a previous occasion and which was 

parked at Rock's home that day. 18RP 167-170; exhibit 130. Revell 

could see "a couple people walking around" but was unable to 

recognize anyone. 18RP 168-169. Revell recalled hearing 

conversation from the direction of the property; the other two recalled 

hearing pounding sounds, which one of them described as the 

sound of chopping wood . 18RP 133, 141, 169. 

About 4:30 that same afternoon, Irby drove his pickup to the 

home of Lorna Hoyle and pulled into her driveway. RP 105-106. 

Hoyle knew both Rock and Irby and lived about 5 minutes from 

Rock's home. 18RP 103-104. According to Hoyle, Irby was 
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rambling and his skin color seemed off. Irby said something about 

James, Hoyle's brother, and Hoyle explained that James was at 

work. 18RP 106-107. Irby went to leave, but his truck would not 

start. 18RP 107-108. James eventually arrived and got Irby's truck 

started . 18RP 114-115. According to James, Irby was "always 

weird," but on this day he was shaky and he was rambling. James 

also noticed Irby's unusual skin tone, which he described as 

"purplish ." 18RP 115-116. James did not see any blood on Irby, 

however. 18RP 116. Irby finally left in his truck around 9:30 p.m. 

18RP110. 

Later that same evening, around 11 :00 p.m., Marysville Police 

arrested Irby, following a short chase, after Irby ran a red light while 

driving his pickup truck through town. 16RP 157-176; 17RP 4-7, 

140. A search of the pickup revealed camping gear - including a 

backpack, first-aid kit, cooler, canteen, sleeping bag, shovel, and 

folding knife - as well as food and three magazines for a .22 rifle. 

13RP 130; 17RP 8, 132-134; exhibits 52, 55. There was an 

unloaded .22 rifle in the truck bed. In the cab, there was a handgun 

and shotgun, both loaded. 17RP 8-11, 19-21. ATF records, and 

information from those familiar with the guns, later established that 

all three firearms had previously belonged to Rock and been stored 
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in his master bedroom closet. 13RP 134-136; 17RP 41-43; 18RP 

152-153. 

Rock's shoe size was 8. 17RP 50. Among the objects found 

in the bed of Irby's pickup was a pair of size 13 work boots. 13RP 

130-133; 17RP 29. Small stains on the right boot were determined 

to be blood matching Rock's DNA profile.4 13RP 153-162. Other 

stains on both boots tested presumptively positive for blood, but 

were not subjected to DNA testing. 18RP 74-75, 82-84. Based on 

the characteristics of the bloodstains in the shop and staining on the 

boots, a Washington State Patrol Crime analyst concluded it was 

possible the boots were in Rock's vicinity when he was killed. 18RP 

95-97, 100-101. 

The prosecution's primary theory at trial was that Irby 

ambushed Rock from behind and murdered him in the shop so that 

he could steal his firearms. 16RP 124-125; 19RP 13, 22-28, 33-35, 

38. The prosecution also suggested Irby may have been interested 

in other property, implying the camping equipment found in Irby's 

truck and one item of jewelry in his possession might also have been 

stolen from Rock's home. 19RP 13, 23, 34, 39-40. 

4 The chance of finding a random match for this profile was 
estimated at one in three quadrillion. 13RP 161. 
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4. Current Convictions and Sentencing 

Jurors found Irby guilty of Aggravated Murder in the First 

Degree, Felony Murder in the First Degree, and Burglary in the First 

Degree. CP 259-261, 263, 266. By special verdict, jurors also 

found Irby was armed with a deadly weapon while committing Felony 

Murder. CP 265. 

Seeking to avoid double jeopardy, Judge Rickert vacated the 

Felony Murder conviction and associated deadly weapon finding. 

CP 333, 339; 19RP 96. For the Aggravated Murder conviction, the 

court imposed the mandatory sentence of life in prison. CP 333, 

339; 19RP 96. The court also imposed a life sentence for the 

Burglary conviction after finding Irby to be a persistent offender 

based on convictions for two prior offenses - a 1976 conviction for 

Statutory Rape and a 1984 conviction for Assault in the Second 

Degree. CP 332-334, 339; 19RP 96. Irby timely filed his Notice of 

Appeal. CP 347. 
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C. ARGUMENT

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