70418-4

10418-4

NO. 70418-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent,

v.

TERRANCE IRBY, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable Michael E. Rickert, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: ERIK PEDERSEN, WSBA#20015 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059



Courthouse Annex 605 South Third Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 336-9460

ORIGINAL

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

Lorna's brother showed up shortly after 6:00 p.m. 3/8/13 PM RP 109. Her brother helped Irby with the truck. 3/8/13 PM RP 109. Irby came into the house about 8:30 p.m. and was still incoherent. 3/8/13 PM RP 109. Irby finally got his truck going and left about 9:20 p.m. 3/8/13 PM RP 110.

James Hoyle had known Irby about ten years and knew him to be about six feet two inches and weigh one hundred and ninety pounds. 3/8/13 PM RP 111. James knew Rock was about seventy years old at the time of his death and that he was in frail health. 3/8/13 PM RP 112. James's sister called about Terrance Irby's truck broken down in the driveway. 3/8/13 PM RP 113-4. James arrived around 6:00 or 6:30 p.m. 3/8/13 PM RP 114. While working on the truck, Irby was acting different than normal. 3/8/13 PM RP 116. He was shaky and his skin was purplish. 3/8/13 PM RP 116. James and Irby found out there was a broken wire from the key to the starter. 3/8/13 PM RP 114. Irby rambled when he spoke and said something about going to see his sister in Eastern Washington. 3/8/13 PM RP 115.

٠

v. March 8, 2005, 11:00 p.m., Irby's Eluding and Arrest in Marysville.

On March 8, 2005, Officer Derek McCleod was working for the Marysville Police Department. 3/6/13 RP 157-8. Around 11:00 p.m. he was starting to go through a green light, when a brown pickup truck ran the red light. 3/6/13 RP 160-1. The driver looked at McCleod, making eye contact, but did not acknowledge he had done anything wrong. 3/6/13 RP 164-5. McCleod activated his emergency lights and pulled the vehicle over. 3/6/13 RP 161-2. The vehicle went further than usual for a traffic stop and pulled around making it difficult to see inside. 3/6/13 RP 164. McCleod got out and could see the driver looking at him with one hand on the wheel. 3/6/13 RP 165. McCleod told him to put his other hand on the wheel, and the turn the vehicle off, but he refused, instead fiddling with something on the seat. 3/6/13 RP 166-8. McCleod put his hand on his weapon and started to go back to his vehicle for back up when the driver drove off. 3/6/13 RP 167-8.

The truck crossed the curb, sidewalk and flower bed out into the street. 3/6/13 RP 168. McCleod pursued with lights and siren. 3/6/13 RP

169. The truck made a hard left into a parking lot before flying up a ten foot embankment onto the railroad tracks. 3/6/13 RP 170. The truck went south straddling the tracks, bouncing up and down, giving off sparks and pulling out the exhaust. 3/6/13 RP 170. McCleod paralleled the tracks. 3/6/13 RP 171. The truck pulled into a parking lot and was abandoned. 3/6/13 RP 171.

٩

A canine was called in with a handler to track the driver. 3/6/13 RP 172. The dog tracked blocks away. 3/6/13 RP 174-5. There McCleod could see hands and feet sticking out of a bush and gave commands for the person to come out. 3/6/13 RP 174-6, 3/7/13 RP 4. The man came out and questioned the officers whether they had caught the driver yet. 3/7/13 RP 5. McCleod recognized the man as the driver and sole occupant. 3/7/13 RP 5-6. The driver was Terrance Irby. 3/7/13 RP 6.

After Irby was in custody, McCleod backtracked to the truck. 3/7/13 RP 8. McCleod looked in the vehicle and saw a rifle in the bed of the truck and a shotgun and a handgun on the seat. 3/7/13 RP 8. McCleod identified the three weapons located in the vehicle. 3/7/13 RP 8-11.

Officer Wallace Forsloff assisted in the pursuit. 3/7/13 RP 12-14. Forsloff found the truck in a parking lot and stayed with the vehicle while the dog track occurred noting a lot of damage to the underside of the vehicle. 3/7/13 RP 16-7. Forsloff also saw a handgun sitting on top of the seat just to the right of the driver seat. 3/7/13 RP 17. After Irby was arrested, Forsloff secured the handgun to make it safe. 3/7/13 RP 19. The gun was loaded with six bullets. 3/7/13 RP 19. Forsloff also identified the shotgun which he secured from the vehicle which had been loaded with five rounds. 3/7/13 RP 20-1. The rifle secured from the back of the truck was not loaded. 3/7/13 RP 21. Forsloff identified the serial numbers on the weapons. 3/7/13 RP 22.

.

vi. March 11, 2005, Discovery of James Rock's body

Deputy Craig Mullen of the Skagit County Sheriff's Office was dispatched to Mr. Rock's residence on March 11, 2005, on Shangri-La Lane in Skagit County for a welfare check. 3/6/13 RP 125-6, 129. Rock had not responded to an arranged pick up by a medical transportation company. 3/6/13 RP 129-30. Mullen walked around the house knocking on doors and looking in windows but could not locate anyone. 3/6/13 RP 132, 134. A door was ajar to the large metal shop or garage which is apart from the house by a breezeway. 3/6/13 RP 134-5. Mullen opened the door and tried to turn on the light but it did not work. 3/6/13 RP 135-6. Mullen used his flashlight to look around and saw a body in the middle of the shop covered by a large water bed mattress. 3/6/13 RP 136-7. There was a lot of blood around the face and a big pool of blood underneath. 3/6/13 RP 137. Mullen touched the hand to check for a pulse but the body was cold and very stiff. 3/6/13 RP 137. Mullen backed out and arranged for assistance. 3/6/13 RP 141-2.

When detectives and the coroner arrived, they moved the items on

top of the body to look for weapons and to get a better view. 3/6/13 RP 154-5. They did not locate any weapons. 3/6/13 RP 155.

vii. March 11 and 12, 2005, Death Scene Examination.

Ken Tiscornia was a detective who assisted at the crime scene. 3/7/13 RP 66, 69. Tiscornia used a flashlight and described bloodstains on the floor, as well as on the walls. 3/7/13 RP 72-3, 86, 112, 114-5. Rock's body was located in a semi-fetal position draped a over folding chair with a large pool of blood surrounding his head. 3/7/13 RP 75. Tiscornia assisted in removing the mattress off the body and removing the body. 3/7/13 RP 81, 86. At the autopsy the next day, Tiscornia collected a cell phone, pills and keys from James' pockets, but did not find a wallet. 3/7/13 RP 109. Tiscornia collected a backpack that had been seized from Irby's truck, which Rebecca Bell identified as belonging to Rock. 3/7/13 RP 132-3, 3/8/14 RP 154-5. Tiscornia located a folding knife, three .22 caliber magazines, and a first aid survival kit in the backpack. 3/7/13 RP 133.

viii. March 11 and 12, 2015, Body Examination.

Pathologist Dr. Daniel Selove was called to the crime scene. 3/8/13 PM RP 8, 13. Selove observed Rock lying on an aluminum folding chair with blood about his head obscuring his wounds. 3/8/13 PM RP 15. After feeling Rock's scalp, Selove determined there were several impacts to the head and a cutting wound to the head. 3/8/13 PM RP 16. Rock had been beaten. 3/8/13 PM RP 16. Selove also observed droplets of blood around the garage shed showing blood had been deposited as a result of impacts with blood. 3/8/13 PM RP 16. When moving the body, Selove noted rigor mortis was still present but was noted as departing. 3/8/13 PM RP 17.

Selove performed the autopsy the next morning. 3/8/13 PM RP 19. On Rock's hands, Selove noted only two new small scrapes to the back of Rock's fingers. 3/8/13 PM RP 21. There was a stabbing injury to the back, upper right of Rock's neck resulting in a penetrating wound about three inches in depth. 3/8/13 PM RP 24. The wound was caused by a narrow object less than a half-inch in diameter and at least three inches in length, consistent with a long curved chisel. 3/8/13 PM RP 24. There was a slicing wound to the front of the neck about four inches long on the right front neck about an inch deep which cut into the jugular vein caused by a sharp, narrow object such as a knife, razor of piece of glass. 3/8/13 PM RP 25, 30. Rock's head had nine significant injuries caused by some hard, flat or rounded object. 3/8/13 PM RP 23, 27-29. The blows fractured an eye socket causing a ruptured eyeball. 3/8/13 PM RP 27-8. The impacts caused fractures in the strongest parts of the back of the skull requiring a severe amount of force with a heavy hard object such as a hammer. 3/8/13 PM RP 27-8, 33-4.

Selove determined Rock died as a result of the combined effects of the sharp injury to the neck, the stabbing would to the neck and the blunt force injury to the head. 3/8/13 PM RP 35. Selove determined the time of death was consistent with the injuries being inflicted on March 8, 2005, three days prior to Selove's first observation of the body. 3/8/13 PM RP 36.

ix. March 12, 2005, Residence, Property Examination.

Detective Jennifer Sheahan-Lee found out Irby had been arrested in Marysville on March 8, 2005. 3/7/13 RP 139-40. Upstairs in Rock's residence were two bedrooms. 3/7/13 RP 150. The spare bedroom was used as storage with shelving holding survival type equipment. 3/7/13 RP 151. There, she located a shipping box for a folding stock for a .22 caliber firearm. 3/7/13 RP 153. A folding stock matched that located on the .22 caliber rifle found in the truck. 3/7/13 RP 153. A later check with Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms showed that the .22 had been purchased at Wal-Mart in 2004, that the shotgun had been purchased before 1968, and the handgun had been purchased by Rock in California in 1986. 3/8/13 AM RP 134-5.

The master bedroom door had a hasp that could be used to padlock the door shut. 3/7/13 RP 154. The door was missing the doorknob. 3/7/13 RP 157. There were pieces of material from the door on the floor. 3/7/13 RP 158-9. There were shotgun shells on a bookshelf in the master bedroom as well as a storage bag for a long shotgun or rifle. 3/7/13 RP 156, 167. A speed loader for a .357 caliber firearm as well as .22 caliber ammunition was found in the spare bedroom. 3/7/13 RP 161. Sheahan-Lee located a wood stock that would have been original to the rifle. 3/8/13 AM RP 125.

•

Rock's computer was last used on March 7, 2005, at 8:44 p.m. 3/8/13 AM RP 121-2. Rock's cell phone located at the autopsy was last used March 8th at 12:18 in the afternoon. 3/8/13 PM RP 117-21.

Sheahan-Lee saw a red plastic gas can, a bag of peanuts, a cooler, a shovel and a pair of boots in the back of Irby's truck. 3/8/13 AM RP 128, 130. The boots were collected and put into evidence. 3/8/13 AM RP 131-2. Sheahan-Lee obtained a DNA sample from Irby to compare with clothing obtained from Irby and the boots from the truck. 3/8/13 AM RP 138-141.

At Rock's residence, Officer Terry Esskew photographed inside including the wood splinters on the floor outside Rock's bedroom. 3/8/13 PM RP 174-5, 181. Esskew described that the door jamb had been broken and the handle removed. 3/8/13 PM RP 181-2. It appeared that someone had pried or kicked in the doorway and removed the handles. 3/8/13 PM RP 182. No doorknob or handles were located. 3/8/13 PM RP 182.

Detective Kay Walker did a sweep of the property and adjoining areas looking for any evidence of the crime. 3/8/13 AM RP 163, 169-70. She also arranged for search and rescue to do a more detailed search. 3/8/13 AM RP 186. No weapons were located. 3/8/13 AM RP 171-2, 186. Rock's mail was collected from the mailbox and newspaper from the box. 3/8/13 AM RP 187. The newspaper was dated March 9th. 3/8/13 AM RP 189.

x. Expert Examination of DNA and Blood Evidence.

•

Forensic Scientist Brian Smelser assisted in examining Irby's truck. 3/8/13 PM RP 57, 66. Smelser located a pair of boots in the bed of the truck. 3/8/13 PM RP 66. The boots were in fair condition and appeared to have small stains which were possibly blood that could be seen with the naked eye. 3/8/13 PM RP 66-7. The boots were collected to be examined with more scrutiny at the laboratory. 3/8/13 PM RP 67. There were twenty-four stains on the right boot, and the five spots Smelser tested showed positive for the presumptive test for blood. 3/8/13 PM RP 75. There were also small spots on the left boot and two of them also tested presumptive for blood. 3/8/13 PM RP 84. Photographs of the crime scene showed similar shaped droplets of blood. 3/8/13 PM RP 87-8. There were stains on the right side of both the right and left boot with more stains on the right boot, showing that boot was closer to the source of the blood stains. 3/8/13 PM RP 96.

Greg Frank, a forensic scientist from the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory, examined the boots from Irby's truck. 3/8/13 AM RP 142, 154, 3/8/13 PM RP 82. Frank was able to obtain a DNA profile from a stain on the right boot. 3/8/13 AM RP 157. A number of other small stains were also presumptive for blood. 3/8/13 AM RP 158. Comparing the DNA profile from the stain on the right boot, Frank determined the DNA profile matched that of James Rock with a probability of one in three quadrillion. 3/8/13 AM RP 161. A test of another spot on the boot came up with the same DNA profile which also matched Mr. Rock. 3/8/13 AM RP 162.

IV. ARGUMENT

.

1. Where there were no cause challenges to the jurors, Irby cannot establish the trial court improperly permitted jurors to remain on the case.

Irby's contention the trial court improperly permitted two biased jurors to remain on the jury is flawed as Irby was not present to make any challenges for cause and the claimed bias was inadequate to force removal.

i. The statements of the two jurors.

The first juror he contends should have been removed by the trial court without challenge was juror number 27. Juror 27 was a certified nursing assistant at the hospital. 3/6/13 AM RP 48. The juror knew two of the sheriff's deputies involved in the case. 3/5/13 AM RP 37-8. "I know a couple of them not super well, but I do know them." 3/6/13 AM RP 68.

When asked by the prosecutor if there were concerns because they could only be hearing from one side of the case, juror 27 was the first to respond. 3/5/13 AP RP 49. "Just kind of makes me think that they are guilty or maybe crazy if they don't want to have a defense for themselves." 3/6/13 AM RP 49. When asked questions about the situation, the juror indicated that it would be hard being a juror since the defendant wasn't represented at all. 3/6/13 RP 69. It was a combination of the fact she was pro police and

that Irby was not represented that caused her "some concern." 3/6/13 RP 69.

•

Juror 38, the other juror Irby complains was excessively biased, was a former Child Protective Service employee. 3/6/13 AM RP 40, 43. Juror 38 indicated that she was a little concerned that her prior work for the government made her "more inclined toward the prosecution I guess." 3/6/13 AM RP 43. When the court asked about the situation further, she said: "I would like to say he's guilty." 3/6/13 AM RP 43. The trial court did not ask any follow-up questions. Later in questioning, juror 38 indicated that when evaluating two expert witnesses, she would evaluate the relevancy of expert opinions. 3/6/13 AM RP 80.

At the end of the questioning of all the jurors, the prosecutor asked if all the jurors could hold the State to its burden of proof and make a finding of guilty or not guilty based upon the evidence they heard. 3/6/13 AM RP 94. Neither of the two challenged jurors responded. 3/6/13 AM RP 84.

ii. Irby did not raise the issue before the trial court.

Here there was no challenge for cause to the two jurors who were seated since the defendant was not present and chose not to put on a case. He wanted the State to seat a jury without any input.

MR. IRBY: I also explained to Mr. Pedersen that I have no problem with that, Your Honor; that he could proceed. He can impanel whatever jury he wants. If they are all part of the conspiracy people of this and that, I don't care. If they have had family members murdered, I can't care. Put whoever you put on because it's immaterial. The end of this case is a conviction anyway okay.

3/5/13 RP 146-7.

Irby failed to make a challenge below and thus fails to preserve this

issue for review.

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